1959

# Harold C. Fuller v. First Security Bank of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment and the overruling of defendant's Motion for a New Trial by the Honorable Ray VanCott Jr., one of the judges of the District Court of Salt Lake County. This is a suit in equity to set aside a deed and quiet title in plaintiff. The issues were joined as shown by the Pretrial Order as follows:

## PRETRIAL ORDER

After a discussion between the Court and counsel, the contentions of the parties are stated as follows:

### PLAINTIFF'S CONTENTIONS:

1. The plaintiff contends that the plaintiff and the deceased, Fae L. Fuller, were husband and wife prior to her death on approximately the 29th day of September, 1958.

2. That marital difficulties had led them to consider the possibility of a divorce. Negotiations had been entered into through the attorney of Fae L. Fuller, Frank E. Moss, and as part of the negotiations it was contemplated that there would be a division of the property of the parties. The property consisted of the following as far as this case is concerned: two apartment houses, one located on B Street and one on 2nd South Street in Salt Lake City, Utah.

Plaintiff contends that he was to deed to the said Fae L. Fuller the apartment house on B Street.

3. The plaintiff visited the office of Frank E. Moss to read and consider the divorce papers that had been prepared by him as attorney for Fae L. Fuller. At that time he signed the deed conveying the property at 105 B Street to Fae L. Fuller and leaving it with Frank E. Moss.

4. It is the contention of the plaintiff that the signing and delivery of the deed to Frank E. Moss was conditional, to-wit:

The transfer was not to be completed until a divorce had been obtained.

5. Prior to the time of any divorce being obtained, the said

lae L. Fuller died. The plaintiff, therefore, claims that the deed may be withdrawn and the Court should order the reconveyance of the property from the deceased through her administrator to the plaintiff.

### DEFENDANT'S CONTENTIONS:

1. Defendant contends that Fae L. Fuller at the time of her death was in possession of property and was managing and operating that apartment house.

2. That it was an unconditional, good and valid delivery of the deed to Fae L. Fuller.

The pleadings are merged in the pretrial order and the issues will be as framed herein, and without further amendment unless written objections are filed within five days from the date of this order.

The case is set for non-jury trial, March 24, 1959 at ten o'clock A.M.

Dated at Salt Lake City, Utah, this 19th day of March, 1959.

ALDON J. ANDERSON

District Judge

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant herewith submits a condensation of the material evidence, tending to support the position of the respective parties. The evidence will be given in the order in which it occurs in the transcript and as introduced at the trial.

The first witness called was the plaintiff, HAROLD C. FULLER, who testified on direct examination that the First Security Bank is the administrator of the estate of his wife, Fae L. Fuller. That in the summer of 1957 he had occasion to visit the office of Frank E. Moss, an attorney in Salt Lake City, in respect to the property involved in this law suit. That Frank E. Moss had been his attorney for several years. "My wife and I had talked over a divorce and she had gone to see Mr. Moss and we figured out what she wanted in the way of money and the property on B Street, she wanted the property and so much a week on the divorce deal." (Record 9)

Mr. Fuller then testified that Mr. Moss called him and he went to his office and they talked over the divorce.

(Record 10)

13 "Q. That was the summer of 1957?

14 A. Yes. And then we made a divorce settlement and I  
15 agreed to the property deal, but not the weekly amount, and  
16 I didn't sign the papers at that time on account of we hadn't  
17 worked it out."

Mr. Fuller then testified that he paid Mr. Moss as his attorney and that prior to this time he had never been Mrs. Fuller's attorney. (Record 10). That Mr. Moss was the only lawyer involved.

(Record 11)

20 "A. He wanted me to give her the B Street property and  
21 so much a week and I was agreeable to the B Street property  
22 but I wasn't agreeable to setting an amount on a weekly deal  
23 because I didn't know what I would make. I agreed to give  
24 her whatever I could give her and that was why I didn't sign  
25 the papers at that time."



At the time of the discussion the property was held in joint tenancy. (Record 11). That documents were prepared and Mr. Fuller saw these documents in Judge Moss' office at his desk.

(Record 12)

11 "Q. Now did you execute a deed at that time to the B Street  
12 property?

13 A. No. It was later, after I talked to Fae, considerable  
14 after that, trying to get her to release this definite amount  
15 per week that she wanted so that we could leave it open so I  
16 could give her whatever I could make or borrow, whatever the  
17 case would be, because our business was in bad shape at the  
18 time."

20 "A. Later on we got together."

(Record 13)

8 "Q. Now did you sign any document at that time?

9 A. I signed when Mrs. Fuller and I got together on this.  
10 She finally reached a point where she was going to go through  
11 and trust me to pay her what I could and I went up and signed  
12 this deed with Mr. Moss.

13 Q. Now did you see other documents at the time you signed  
14 the deed in Mr. Moss' office?

15 A. No. I seen those before and I just suppose it was the  
16 same setup there and they would have to be changed, the  
17 amount had not been changed on there and Mrs. Fuller and I  
18 agreed to it."

Mr. Moss was not present at the time Mr. Fuller signed the deed. That he left the deed with Mr. Moss' secretary. Mr. Fuller then testified that the divorce plan was never consummated. (Record 13). That her death intervened.

(Record 14)

6 "Q. Now was the execution of this deed a part of the divorce  
7 proceedings that you were negotiating on?"

12 "A. It was a part of the divorce from the very start. The  
13 B Street property was a gift to her for the divorce, in  
14 consideration of the divorce."

On Cross-examination Mr. Fuller testified Mr. Moss sent him  
a bill and "was paid for the work he did in this case."

Exhibit 1, the deed to the B Street property, was introduced  
in evidence and Mr. Fuller acknowledged that it was his signature.

(Record 15).

Mr. Fuller testified, "I talked to Mr. Moss once." (Record 16).  
Mr. Fuller testified that he saw the complaint in Mr. Moss' office  
but never received a copy and was never asked to and never did  
sign a waiver. (Record 18). He then testified, (Record 18)

18 "Q. Now who was it that telephoned you and told you to come  
19 in and sign some papers?

20 A. Oh I don't recall. I believe it was Mr. Moss that talked  
21 to me first, or it was his secretary, and I know I went down  
22 and looked over the papers and it was all okeh but the amount  
23 of the weekly money she was to receive and that I wouldn't  
24 agree to, so I didn't sign any papers.

25 Q. Now isn't it a fact that Mrs. Fuller told you that a deed  
26 had been prepared and that you were going to go down and sign  
27 the deed?

28 A. I don't remember any such thing as that.

29 Q. Your recollection is that you were called by Mr. Moss' office?

30 A. I don't think so. When I signed the deed I went down

(Record 19)

1 there and we had gotten pretty near together on this money  
2 thing. She finally agreed to go along with me on the thing  
3 because always in the past I had given her the money all I  
4 could give her and she was pretty well sold on the idea. She  
5 didn't need so much a week anyway. At that time when we had  
6 reached the point where she felt I would take care of her I  
7 went down and signed the deed on this divorce thing and she  
8 never did get down to sign the rest of the papers, but we had  
9 it straightened out. It was that she would be safe in trusting  
10 me to pay this money."

At the time that he signed the deed he did not see Mr. Moss  
and the only person he talked to was the secretary of Mr. Moss.

(Record 20)

4 "Q. Do you recall now whether any documents of any kind were  
5 submitted to you at the time you signed the deed?

6 A. It seems to me that there were and I told her that was the  
7 only one I would sign at the time."

Mr. Fuller testified that his wife died September 29, 1958.

(Record 21)

14 "Q. This property involved here, will you describe it to His  
15 Honor so he knows the property that is involved, the property  
16 covered by this deed so he knows what it is?

17 A. It is a five-unit apartment and four small apartments and  
18 a basement apartment on the north corner of B Street and 2nd  
19 Avenue; a kind of big yellow house that sits back in all  
20 those trees."

29 "Q. Now between November 15, 1957, the date the deed was  
30 signed and up until the time of Fae L. Fuller's death on  
(Record 22)

1 September 29, 1958, to whom did the tenants pay the rent?

2 A. They always paid the rent to Mrs. Fuller; always.

3 Q. You mean from the very beginning?

4 A. She collected the rent. She was a good bookkeeper and  
5 we left the rent to her from the very start.

6 Q. Has she always done that?

7 A. She has always collected the rent."

(Record 23)

10 "Q. Did you use the B Street property as an asset?

11 A. Yes. It is used as an asset and I listed it.

12 Q. Did you use the B Street property as an asset when you  
13 got the loan?

14 A. Yes, I used it."

Exhibits 2, 3, and 4 are letters which Mr. Fuller wrote to his  
daughter, Mrs. Linnea Bentley, the sole beneficiary of Fae L. Fuller's  
Will. (Record 23)

(Record 25)

10 "Q. Well now didn't you advise your daughter that she had  
11 received a valuable piece of property if she handled it  
12 correctly?

13 A. Well I knew that they weren't paying their first mort-  
14 gage off and that is what they had to do if they took the  
15 property and I outlined that that is what they had to do.  
16 There is no question about that.

17 Q. And at that time you considered it your property, did

18 you not?

19 A. Well I probably considered I had been taken for a ride.  
20 I didn't think there was anything I could do about it until  
21 I talked to Gordon. I told my daughter at the time it was  
22 a terrible thing to happen and she said, 'Well, Dad, it is  
23 your property. I don't want it.' At that time I figured  
24 that in some way she was going to give it to me but at any  
25 rate I talked to Gordon and we got into this deal."

(Record 26)

13 "Q. Now in whose name was the telephone number at this  
14 apartment house?

15 A. It was Fae L. Fuller just recently because I had to have  
16 a phone at the other property. It is confusing to have two  
17 phones in the name of Harold Fuller Company and I asked how  
18 to do it and they said you would have to use another phone.

19 Q. Was the phone always in her name?

20 A. No, it was in both of ours.

21 Q. Well was she managing the property up at B Street?

22 A. She always managed the property. She managed it from  
23 the day we took it over except that I did the work when I was  
24 home."

Mr. Fuller testified that Mrs. Fuller was the plaintiff in the divorce action and that Mr. Moss represented Mrs. Fuller but "he was sort of a go-between to settle this thing." (Record 27)

(Record 28)

9 "Q. Well on this divorce proceedings Mr. Moss was acting as  
10 her attorney, wasn't he?

11 A. Right."

Redirect Examination:

- 27 "Q. And you didn't authorize him, or anybody else, to  
28 deliver this deed to Fae L. Fuller until this divorce was  
29 over, did you?  
30 A. I did not, no."

Mr. Fuller testified that in 1959, he discussed the matter of his rights with Mr. Hyde and he had no idea what his rights were until Mr. Hyde told him. (Record 29)

- 25 "Q. And you had considered that you had lost the property,  
26 hadn't you?  
27 A. That is the truth.  
28 Q. Was it ever your intention to give this property away  
29 unless the divorce went through?  
30 A. It never was."

(Record 30)

- 16 "Q. And did you ever tell her that it was your intention  
17 to give this property except on the condition of the divorce  
18 A. No."

Re-Cross Examination:

Mr. Fuller testified that for 15 years he had been endeavoring to obtain a divorce and as a result of the death of his wife, he was a free man.

Direct Examination:

Plaintiff then called as his witness, PHYLLIS D. PORTER.  
(Record 31)

Mrs. Porter testified that during the time negotiations were

underway between Mr. and Mrs. Fuller for divorce, she was employed by Frank E. Moss as his secretary. (Record 32)

Exhibits 5 and 6, the original complaint and waiver in the divorce action (taken from Mr. Moss' files by Mrs. Porter), were introduced in evidence. (Record 32)

That Mrs. Porter talked to Mrs. Fuller at different times during the period of the divorce negotiations but no reference was ever made to the B Street property. (Record 32) That she did not know there was any difference between the Fullers on the amount of alimony. (Record 33)

(Records 33 and 34)

30 "Q. Did Mr. Moss tell you to preserve this file and to bring  
1 it into Court and to show it to him if he ever asked for it?

2 A. I don't think he ever expected it to be brought into  
3 Court. I don't think he expected any actions. It was  
4 mentioned, well he simply told me to take the files home and  
5 to keep them in case there was ever any need for them, that  
6 they would be more accessible."

Exhibit 8 was offered which were notes made by Mr. Moss. The Court refused to admit exhibit 8 as hearsay. (Record 34)

Exhibit 7, a copy of a letter from Mr. Moss' files, was introduced in evidence. (Record 35)

(Records 35 and 36)

23 "A. Well Mrs. Fuller called and said that she was deferring  
24 action until later, or until the next year so as to give Mr.  
25 Fuller an opportunity to conduct his business with the help  
26 of the property.

27 Q. And do you know whether or not the divorce action was  
28 stayed as suggested?

29 A. She asked that it be held in abeyance until Spring at  
30 least.

1 Q. And nothing further was done?

2 A. Nothing further was done.

3 Q. And then she died?

4 A. Yes. Everything went along just as it was and she didn't  
5 tell us to make any further move and so things just stayed in  
6 abeyance until her death."

Mr. Moss sent a bill to Mr. Fuller on the paper work and the  
time spent in the interview and Mr. Fuller paid the bill. (Record  
36)

Cross-Examination:

Mrs. Porter testified that when Mr. Fuller came in to sign the  
deed, she was alone in the office. That she had no conversation  
with him. That he was not shown any of the papers in the file.  
(Record 36) That he did not give any instructions concerning  
what was to be done with that deed. That the office kept two files,  
one marked Divorce File and one marked Will File. That the deed  
was placed in the Will File. Mrs. Porter identified her signature  
as the Notary to the deed. (Record 37)

(Records 37 and 38)

26 "Q. So that all that occurred on that occasion was Mr. Fuller  
27 came in and signed the deed?

28 A. That's right.

29 Q. And there was practically no conversation?

30 A. As I recall he said, 'I understand you have a paper here



1 for me to sign.' I said, 'Yes,' pulled out the paper and he  
2 signed it, and that was it.

3 Q. Did you say a paper, or a deed?

4 A. Now that I can't say. I don't know just what I called it.

5 Q. But nothing further occurred?

6 A. That's right.

7 Q. You notarized it and placed it in the file?

8 A. While he was standing there I notarized it."

Re-Direct Examination:

Pre-trial order corrected substituting the name of Frank E. Moss for James P. Cowley. (Record 38)

FORREST W. FULLER, called as a witness on behalf of the plaintiff.

Direct Examination:

Mr. Fuller testified that he was named as executor in the will of Fae L. Fuller and that he is Fae L. Fuller's son. That he declined to act as executor by reason of the differences that existed over the property. That his father, Mr. Fuller, never asked him to record any deed or document. That he received the Will and Deed from Mr. Cowley in the office of Moss and Cowley. He delivered the will to Mr. Hyde, who delivered them to Mr. King. (Record 39)

Cross-Examination:

Forrest Fuller testified that his mother died September 29, 1958. At sometime between the 7th or 10th of October some week or 10 days after his mother died, he received the deed and will and 4 or 5 days thereafter, he recorded the deed. That while he had the deed and will in his possession, he did not discuss them with his

father. (Record 40) That he discussed the will and the deed with his sister, Mrs. Bentley, after the funeral. (Record 41)

Forrest W. Fuller was made defendant's witness and on direct examination testified as follows:

That he is an attorney and represented his father as such. That some years ago he officed with Gordon Hyde and Moss but never with Cowley. That at various times Gordon Hyde represented his father. (Record 43) That Mr. Hyde represented his father in the Lyric Theatre case and he represented his father in a plumbing case. (Record 44)

(Records 45 and 46)

9 "Q. Mr. Fuller, will you describe to His Honor the circum-  
10 stances surrounding the recording of the deed?"

13 A. As I stated, the deed was given to me with the will. This  
14 is the first I knew that the deed had not been recorded and  
15 this is the first time I saw the deed and it was attached to  
16 the papers I received from Moss & Cowley and this was some  
17 several days after the funeral."

The only papers he received were the will and the deed.

26 "Q. And then what occurred after you received the will and  
27 deed?

28 A. I was quite undecided as to what to do and I discussed  
29 the matter with Bentley."

8 "A. And finally I decided that it was my duty to record the  
9 deed and did so."

The will was identified by Salt Lake County District Court No. 41671.

The Court sustained an objection of plaintiff and refused to admit the will in evidence. (Record 47)

HAROLD C. FULLER recalled for further re-cross examination. Mr. Fuller was shown Exhibit 4 and cross-examined as follows:  
(Records 49 and 50)

9 "Q. 'Now my house is coming along, but very slow.' What house  
10 are you referring to?

11 A. 902 2nd South.

12 Q. 'I almost went under because I needed it as an asset to  
13 get the loan. I needed it but I got it without it but I  
14 never will know how.'

15 A. That's right."

18 "Q. Isn't it a fact you got the loan, that you got the loan  
19 without using the house?

20 A. I got the loan without using the house the way I wanted  
21 to use it."

2 "A. The only conversation I ever remember was when Linnea  
3 said, 'Dad, I don't want your house.' "

(Records 51 and 52)

Re-direct Examination:

28 "Q. Now you had been told by others, had you not, that  
29 because this deed had been executed prior to her death that  
30 you had lost the property?

1 A. That's right.

2 Q. You consulted me to find out if that was the legal effect,  
3 isn't that true?

4 A. That's right.

5 Q. Until I advised you, you did not know there was any other

6 possibility, did you?

7 A. That's right."

Plaintiff rests.

Defendant offered as an Exhibit the inventory and appraisal in the estate of Fae L. Fuller. Plaintiff objected and the objection was sustained. (Record 53)

FRANK L. MOSS called as a witness for defendant.  
(Records 54 and 55)

Direct Examination:

That he is a practicing attorney and a member of the Utah State Bar. That prior to 1957 he had a partnership with Mr. Hyde. That the partnership was terminated in August, 1955. That while he was in partnership with Mr. Hyde the firm represented Mr. Fuller. That he never personally represented Mr. Fuller and in 1957, he was employed by Fae L. Fuller to represent her in a divorce action. (Record 54) That as part of the discussion a deed was prepared for a certain property and was executed. That he discussed the deed with Mrs. Fuller on 2 or 3 occasions. That he only discussed the deed with Mr. Fuller by telephone. (Record 55)

Voir dire examination by Mr. Hyde. (Record 56)

11 "Q. Also I show you Exhibit 7 for the purpose of refreshing  
12 your memory in connection with this matter.

13 A. Well these tend to refresh my memory of the approximate  
14 time of the conversation, which would be in late 1957; some  
15 time prior to November of 1957.

16 Q. And do you recall what was said in that conversation?

17 A. In substance the conversation had to do with Mrs. Fuller's

18 actions for a divorce and a discussion regarding an apartment  
19 house and Mr. Fuller's statement to me that he was willing as  
20 part of this proceeding that the apartment house be deeded  
21 over to her, be hers entirely.

22 Q. And you were not present when the deed was executed?

23 A. No, I don't believe I was. I don't recall it.

24 Q. Now after that, in connection with the deed, did you  
25 ever receive any instructions from anyone concerning this  
26 deed?

27 A. Well the only instructions I received were from Mrs.  
28 Fuller, that I was to hold all the papers and everything  
29 surrounding this case because she had agreed to postpone any  
30 further action until her husband had made some financial

(Record 57)

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