1959

# Harold C. Fuller v. First Security Bank of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff in this action and his wife, Fae L. Fuller, had for some fifteen years been estranged, and the plaintiff had sought in vain to obtain the consent of Mrs. Fuller to a divorce (Tr. p. 31, lines 5-9). In the summer of 1957 Mr. and Mrs. Fuller agreed tentatively to the terms of a divorce, and they went to visit Mr. Frank E. Moss to discuss the obtaining of a divorce. Distribution of the property to be made in the divorce proceeding was agreed upon (Tr. p. 10, lines 14-23).

Pursuant to this understanding, Mr. Moss drafted a Complaint which, at the trial of this case, was introduced

in evidence and designated as "Exhibit 5" and in this Complaint he asked the court to award to Mrs. Fuller the property at 105 "B" Street, in Salt Lake City, and pursuant to the discussion and agreement of the parties in paragraph 6, he asked the court to exonerate Mr. Fuller from paying any alimony after the apartment house at 105 "B" Street had been paid for.

The Complaint as drafted asked the court to award to the plaintiff, Mrs. Fuller, the sum of \$40.00 per week for support and maintenance, and when the plaintiff examined the prepared Complaint he refused to sign the waiver prepared by the attorney because it was his understanding that no fixed alimony would be asked for. He thereafter talked to Mrs. Fuller, and it was agreed between them that no fixed alimony would be asked for, and that she would simply trust him to pay an amount necessary for her requirements in addition to her receiving the "B" Street property (Tr. p. 13, lines 9-12).

Subsequently Mr. Fuller was notified by Mr. Moss's office to come in and sign papers pursuant to the divorce, and believing that a complete understanding was had, and that the signing of the papers was necessary for the consummation of the divorce proceeding, he went to the office of Mr. Moss and was asked by his secretary to sign a deed pursuant to the request of Mr. Moss's secretary, but did not sign the waiver because the Complaint had not been amended as he understood it should have been (Tr. p. 12, lines 27-30 and p. 13, lines 1-18). Since Attorney Moss was not present he could not discuss with him the fact that he and Mrs. Fuller had agreed to eliminate the fixed alimony request from the Complaint (Tr. p. 13, lines 19-30).

Subsequent to the signing of the deed the parties agreed between themselves to postpone the divorce proceedings, and Mrs. Fuller advised Mr. Moss of this fact, and on November 22, 1957, Mr. Moss wrote a letter to Mr. Fuller, which letter has been introduced in evidence and designated as "Exhibit 7" in which Mr. Moss said:

"Your wife called this morning to say that she is willing to postpone any further action in the divorce proceedings until springtime because she knows that you will be having financial problems through the winter in the moving picture business.

She expressed confidence that you would continue to send her money for her support as you have been doing, and she is willing to postpone action so that your credit will reflect a part ownership in the equity of the apartment house. Consequently, I will keep these papers on file until some time next spring.

At your wife's suggestion I am enclosing statement for the time and paper work done to date.

Yours very truly,

MOSS & COWLEY

By /s/ Frank E. Moss."

Before the parties determined to resume the divorce and the property settlement the matter was interrupted by the untimely death of Mrs. Fuller. At the time of the death of Mrs. Fuller the property at 105 "B" Street was held in joint tenancy between Mr. and Mrs. Fuller. The First Security Bank, having been duly appointed as the Administrator of the Estate of Mrs. Fuller, contended that the deed executed pursuant to the divorce negotiations was a valid conveyance of the property. The plaintiff herein

filed suit against the First Security Bank to quiet title to the property at 105 "B" Street, contending that the deed was not a completed conveyance but was made pursuant to the contemplated divorce, and was never intended to be an intervivos gift or conveyance to Mrs. Fuller. The trial court held in favor of the plaintiff, and the defendant appeals.

### POINT I

THE EXECUTION OF THE DEED WAS UNDERSTOOD BY BOTH PARTIES TO BE ONLY AN INCIDENT OF THE DIVORCE PROCEEDINGS AND WAS NOT INTENDED TO BE A PRESENT CONVEYANCE OF THE PROPERTY UNLESS THE DIVORCE PROCEEDINGS WERE EFFECTED. THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The defendant appellant argues at great length that it was the intent of the parties that the property at 105 "B" Street should be presently conveyed to Mrs. Fuller in order to provide income for her whether the divorce was consummated or not, and much argument is made of the fact that Mrs. Fuller actually collected the rents and paid the bills; however, the evidence is clear that Mrs. Fuller collected the rents and paid the bills prior to any divorce contemplated, and that she had always collected the rents and handled the money on this property (Tr. p. 22, lines 2-11). It is not difficult from the evidence to determine what the actual intent and understanding of the parties was. Mr. Frank E. Moss, a competent and qualified attorney of many years experience would certainly not have prepared a Com-

plaint asking that the property at 105 "B" Street be awarded by the court to the plaintiff, Mrs. Fuller, had the deed included as part of the property settlement contemplated in the divorce, been intended to be a present conveyance. If the property had already been conveyed there would have been no purpose to ask the court for relief in this respect. Further, it would be inconceivable that Mr. Moss would write the letter on November 22, 1957, designated as "Exhibit 7" in the proceedings, advising Mr. Fuller that Mrs. Fuller desired the divorce proceedings to be stayed until the following spring on condition that he continue to provide her with the support payments in order that his credit would reflect a one-half ownership in the property at 105 "B" Street. Surely if this property had already been conveyed such a scheme would be a fraud upon Mr. Fuller's creditors, and it would be highly unlikely that a respected and responsible attorney would be a party to such a fraud.

It is obvious from the letter of November 22 that the deed already deposited with the secretary of Mr. Moss was not intended to have any force and effect until the divorce had been consummated; and further, that Mr. Moss considered himself an escrow holder of these papers. Hence the language in the letter:

. . . "she is willing to postpone action so that your credit will reflect a part ownership in the equity of the apartment house. *Consequently, I will keep these papers on file until some time next spring.*" (Italics supplied).

*These papers* referred not only to the deed, but to the Complaint, waiver, and other documents drafted by Mr. Moss pursuant to the divorce agreement, and it was certainly

understood as of November 22, 1957, that these documents should not have any force and effect until the following spring. This is further substantiated by the testimony of Mr. Moss's secretary, Phyllis Porter, who testified that Mrs. Fuller called and asked that the papers be held in abeyance until the following spring (Tr. p. 35, lines 27-30; p. 36, lines 1-11). Mrs. Porter further testified that the instructions she had were to keep the papers, including the deed, in the file and to deliver them to no one, including Mrs. Fuller (Tr. p. 36, lines 10-14).

Shortly after Mrs. Fuller had advised to hold everything in abeyance, Mr. Moss submitted a bill for the work done to date to Mr. Fuller, which was paid by him (Tr. p. 36, lines 15-20). The defendant's own witness, Mr. Frank E. Moss, testified that when the initial papers pursuant to the divorce were drafted, and the deed had been signed by Mrs. Fuller, Mrs. Fuller called and asked that the entire matter be held in abeyance, and that everything be held up until she called him again (Tr. p. 56, lines 27-30; p. 57, lines 1-5).

Mr. Moss further testified:

**"THE COURT:** Well, is it your understanding from your conversation with these persons that this deed was executed as a part of this divorce proceeding and settlement of her property rights in that divorce?

**A.** Well the two coincided, Judge, and I am sure that this deed grew out of this whole conversation. However, I understand that he had executed the deed and given it to her for the property.

**THE COURT:** For what reason?

**A.** Preparatory to the divorce.

THE COURT: I see.

MR. HYDE: And in consideration of her agreement to divorce him, isn't that true?

A. At least in part, yes." (Tr. p. 62, lines 25-30; p. 63, lines 1-8)

Hence, it was clear both to the plaintiff and to the plaintiff's attorney that the deed signed in the office of Mr. Moss and held in the file as part of the divorce papers was not to be delivered or effective until the divorce was completed, and that the deed was given, as Mr. Moss testified, in consideration at least in part for the divorce. (Tr. p. 63, lines 3-8).

It is elementary law that a deed is only effective if it is signed with the intent of making conveyance to the grantee, and that if the deed is signed pursuant to a plan which is never consummated, then there is no valid conveyance and the title remains where it was prior to the execution of the deed.

In 16 American Jurisprudence, p. 506, the text writer explains the legal effect of a delivery by a grantor to a third person of a deed to take effect on the happening of a contingency; i.e., in this case, the completion of the divorce proceedings:

"Section 123, Conditional delivery to grantee—an instrument may be delivered in escrow to a third person to be kept by such third person until the performance of a condition or the happening of an event, which, on the performance of the condition or the happening of the contingency specified, becomes operative as a deed and passes legal title."

The court in this case made a specific finding that it was understood between the parties that all documents per-

taining to the divorce proceedings, including the deed executed by the plaintiff to the "B" Street property, would be held until the divorce was consummated (Tr. p. 71; par. 4 of Findings of Fact). This finding of the trial court was impelled by the evidence of the witnesses called at the trial of this case.

The plaintiff, Harold C. Fuller, testified repeatedly that the only purpose he had in executing the deed was to complete the necessary papers for the obtaining of the divorce, and that it was never his intention that title to the property should pass until the divorce was obtained (Tr. pp. 19 and 20; p. 28, lines 27-30; p. 30, lines 1-20). Mr. Moss's secretary, Phyllis Porter, had been instructed to keep the deed with the rest of the divorce papers and not deliver them to anyone (Tr. p. 36, lines 7-14). It was obviously the understanding of Mr. Moss, the attorney for Mrs. Fuller, that the deed would be held in escrow in his office subject to the completion of the divorce proceedings because he did not record the deed. He asked for the award of the property in his Complaint, which would have been a vain pleading had the property already been conveyed prior to the obtaining of the decree, and he testified that the giving of the deed was at least in part the consideration for the divorce. The court made special inquiry of Mr. Moss as to whether or not the deed was part of the divorce proceedings, and Mr. Moss testified as follows:

"THE COURT: Well, is it your understanding from your conversation with these persons that this deed was executed as a part of this divorce proceeding and settlement of her property rights in that divorce?"

A. Well the two coincided, Judge, and I am sure that this deed grew out of this whole conversation. However, I understand that he had executed the deed and given it to her for the property.

THE COURT: For what reason?

A. Preparatory to the divorce.

THE COURT: I see.

MR. HYDE: And in consideration of her agreement to divorce him, isn't that true?

A. At least in part, yes." (Tr. p. 62, lines 25-30; p. 63, lines 1-8)

The letter of November 22, 1957, designated as "Exhibit 7" is further evidence of both the understanding that Mr. Moss, the attorney for Mrs. Fuller, had and the understanding that Mrs. Fuller had of the delivery of this deed into escrow; otherwise, there would have been no point in Mr. Moss stating that Mrs. Fuller was willing to postpone the action in order that the plaintiff's credit would reflect the ownership in the apartment house. Pursuant to the understanding of all parties, the deed was never delivered into the possession of the deceased, and hence upon the death of the deceased the title to the property passed to the other joint tenant, the plaintiff in this action.

In the case of *Phillips v. Farmers Mut. F. Ins. Co.*, 175 N.W. 144, the grantor delivered a warranty deed into the hands of a broker for the purpose of effecting a sale of a property, the deed naming the broker as grantee. The court held this delivery was a conditional delivery, and that no title passed thereby. It can scarcely be imagined that if Mrs. Fuller had renounced her agreement to seek the divorce that Mr. Fuller would nonetheless have considered

the deed a present conveyance of the property which he had purchased and maintained for so many years.

In the case of *Angell v. Ingramm*, 213 Pac. 2d, 944, it was held that an attempted delivery of an instrument placed in escrow by the escrow holder in violation of the terms of the escrow agreement, passed no title to the property to the grantee.

We submit that if Mrs. Porter or Mr. Moss had made a delivery of the deed to Mrs. Fuller prior to the time the divorce was procured that the deed would have been ineffectual to pass title. This problem need not be faced, however, since no delivery was ever made by the escrow holder, and at the time of death of Mrs. Fuller the documents were still held in escrow pursuant to the understanding and instructions of both parties.

The evidence clearly shows, and the court so found, that Mr. Moss was advised that the parties were going to proceed no further with the matter, whereupon Mr. Moss billed Mr. Fuller for the work done to date, and the bill was paid by the plaintiff, Harold F. Fuller. The deed to the "B" Street property remained in the file and was not delivered to either party (Tr. p. 72; par. 6 of the Court's Findings of Fact).

Following the death of Mrs. Fuller, the deed delivered to Mr. Moss's office was recorded. The defendant points to the fact that the plaintiff thereafter wrote to his daughter who was the sole beneficiary under the will of Mrs. Fuller as if she was the owner of the property. What would any ordinary lay person assume without having consulted with an attorney? The First Security Bank had

taken the property over as part of the estate and had doubtless advised him that the legal effect of the giving of the deed into escrow amounted to a legal conveyance.

"Q. Now since the death of your wife, who has collected the rents?

A. Well, the bank has been collecting the rents, the Security Bank.

Q. Have you ever objected to the Bank collecting the rent?

A. *I didn't know my legal rights in this until I talked to an attorney, my attorney, and naturally I let them use high-handed methods and go ahead and handle it and I didn't know where I stood until I talked to Gordon.*" (Tr. p. 25, lines 1-9).  
(Italics supplied).

If the opinion of a lay person were the criterion of what legal effect the court should give the transaction then the uncontradicted testimony as to what the daughter said to her father would be significant:

"I told my daughter at the time it was a terrible thing to happen and she said, 'Well, Dad, it is your property. I don't want it.'" (Tr. p. 25, lines 21-23).

"She said, 'Dad I don't want this property. It is your work. I don't want your home.'" (Tr. p. 25, lines 27-30).

I submit that any lay person advised by the bank that the title was lost to him under these circumstances would probably believe that it was until advised otherwise by an attorney and would doubtless have acted just as did this plaintiff.

The citations which the appellant uses to support its position are all cases without relevance to the facts of this case. *Gappmayer v. Wilkenson*, 53 Utah 236, 117 P. 763 is a case where the delivery was absolute and unconditional. In the case before this court the deed was delivered as part of the documents to effect a divorce proceeding which was never completed and was discontinued at the request of the grantee named in the deed. One of the reasons given by the grantee herself and her lawyer for stopping the proceedings in this case was so that Mr. Fuller would retain his interest in this very real estate until the following year. (See Exhibit 7). (Tr. p. 35, lines 23-30).

In this case it was obviously the intent of Mrs. Fuller, Mr. Moss and Mr. Fuller that the delivery of the deed be effected to pass title only when the divorce was obtained.

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